
 
 

 

Board of Commissioners 
Regular Business Meeting 
910 North Gary Avenue  

Premier Room 
 

August 25, 2025 
6:00pm 

 
1. Call To Order 
  
2. Roll Call – Pledge of Allegiance 
  
3. Listening Post  

Anyone wishing to address the Board is asked to sign in. Please state your name and city 
for the record. The Board asks that you limit your comments to three minutes. If 
necessary, a response will be provided within 48 hours. 

  
4. Changes or Additions to the Agenda 
  
5. Consent Agenda 

All items listed are included in the Consent Agenda. There will be no separate discussion 
of these items. Members of the public may petition in writing that an item be removed 
from the Consent Agenda.  

A. Approval: Regular Minutes: August 11, 2025  
B. Approval: 2026 Board Meeting Schedule 

  
6. Discussion Items 

A. Armstrong Park Concessions Update 
B. Strategic Plan Presentation 
C. Kailasha Developers/Jan Smith Park Update  
D. Additional time for Outstanding Debt (Tentative) 
E. Weekly Happenings (oral) 

  
7. Action Items 
  
8. Closed Session 
  
9. Action Pertaining to Closed Session 
  
10. Adjournment 

 



 

Board of Commissioners 
Regular Meeting 
August 11, 2025 

6:00pm 
 

Call to Order Commissioner Jeffery called the meeting to order at 6:01 pm. 
  
Roll 
Call/Pledge of 
Allegiance 

Present: Commissioners Jeffery, Parisi, Becker, Bird, Pauling Powers, and Witteck.  
Staff: Executive Director Rini, Directors Hamilton and Scumaci, Superintendent Adamson, 
and Executive Assistant Greninger. 

  
Listening Post  
  
Changes to the 
Agenda 

None 

  
Consent 
Agenda 

Commissioner Powers made a motion to accept the consent agenda as read. 
Seconded by Commissioner Bird. 

A. Approval: Regular Minutes: July 14, 2025 
B. Approval: Special Minutes: July 16, 2025 
C. Ratify: July 2025 Bills  

Voice Vote. All in favor. None opposed. Motion Passes. 
 
Commissioner Witteck made a motion to approve the consent agenda as read. 
Seconded by Commissioner Pauling.  

Roll Call Vote: 
Commissioner Bird: Aye Commissioner Powers: Aye 
Commissioner Becker Aye Commissioner Pauling: Aye 
Commissioner Jeffery: Aye Commissioner Witteck: Aye 
Commissioner Parisi: Aye  

Motion Passes 7-0-0 
  

Discussion 
Items 

A. Carol Stream Parks Foundation Update 
Carol Floren from the Carol Stream Parks Foundation provided an update on 
upcoming events, including the annual Duck Race this weekend at Coral Cove Water 
Park, with lots of prizes. There are also “Release the Quacken” t-shirts on sale. The 
Putt & Pour fundraiser scheduled on September 27 will support the Bus fundraising 
campaign. 

B. Review of Outstanding Debt – Meristem Advisors 
Executive Director Rini introduced Andy Arndt from Meristem Advisors to review 
options to refinance or restructure outstanding debt which would reduce the 
impact on taxes to residents. Mr. Arndt has worked with the District for over 10 
years, including the last time we restructured our debt in 2021. The 2016 bonds will 



 

be callable in January 2026, so now is a good time to review our three options. The 
first is to refinance, which would save approximately $875,000. The second option is 
to refinance and issue new Limited Tax Park Bonds for projects. We could generate 
approximately $3 million in new money. This would extend Limited Tax bond 
payments by 8-9 years and increase taxpayer’s annual Park District bill by 
approximately $6 per year. The third option is to refinance, issue new Limited Tax 
Park Bonds and also restructure the debt service out an additional 10 years so that 
we can lower the tax rate which would reduce an average tax payers’ taxes to the 
District by approximately $75 per year. The capital projects and improvements 
funded by these payments will benefit current residents as well as those for 
decades to come. Many projects on our Capital Improvement Plan are currently 
unfunded, but we plan to continue to transfer excess fund balances to capital as 
available. It makes for slower progress on the District’s capital improvement plan 
and is impacted by immediate repairs that come up.  For example, unexpected 
repairs this year will impact the amount of money we are able to transfer to capital 
at year end. We are currently evaluating the aging HVAC system at Simkus 
Recreation Center and working to determine the cause of the gym floor swelling 
this summer. 
Commissioner Powers asked which bonds are callable and what is the interest rates 
on new bonds. Mr. Arndt said only the 2016 bonds are callable; the Capital 
Appreciation Bonds are not callable. The interest rate on new bonds will be 
approximately 5%, but he will have more specific information at the next meeting in 
August.  We will schedule a Finance Committee Meeting before the Regular Board 
Meeting to discuss this further. 

C. Capital Improvement Plan – Second Quarter 2025 
Director Scumaci reviewed the highlights of the Capital Improvement Plan as it 
stands as of June 30, 2025. Director Hamilton and Division Manager Kenny are 
starting to work on a Master Plan for the Armstrong Hub. Pleasant Hill Park 
renovations have begun and will be complete in the fall. We had several 
unbudgeted expenses this year, including the water service for Coyote Crossing 
Mini Golf, and the Bierman Lake shoreline repair. The Capital Fund Transfers made 
those repairs possible.  

D. Tentative 2026 Board Meeting Schedule 
Executive Director Rini asked the Board to review the tentative 2026 Board Meeting 
schedule. The schedule will be approved at the next Board Meeting on August 25. 

E. Kailasha Developers/Jan Smith Park Update  
Executive Director Rini reviewed the communication we received after the last 
meeting between the developers, the Village of Carol Stream and Park District. We 
learned that Jan Smith Park and Sundance were originally intended to be 
stormwater management basins. Greg Ulreich, a Civil/Stormwater Engineer from 
the Village of Carol Stream, attended the meeting to provide answers to some of 
our questions. He brought a copy of an Annexation Ordinance from 1978 that 
showed how the open land given to the Park District would be used for stormwater 
detention areas. All the sewer lines that will be put in will be managed by the 



 

Village. The Hahn property development will increase the size of the stormwater 
capacity. The basin will be dug deeper, the existing pipes under the basin will be 
replaced and channels will be dug to route the water through native plants to clean 
the water before it enters the waterway. This part of the project will be completed 
for approximately 3-4 years before the Park District incurs any costs for maintaining 
the new wet bottom basin. Mr. Ulreich said the proposed work to the basin by the 
developer will fast forward our plans by ten years and provide a beautiful natural 
area for stormwater management. Commissioner Becker asked if we ever had plans 
to put a playground at Jan Smith Park. Executive Director Rini said no. 
Commissioner Jeffery commented that said it would be a great place for the high 
school students to hang out at. Commissioner Pauling said the area is a focal point 
in the area and people would really benefit by these improvements. Commissioner 
Witteck agreed with moving forward with negotiations, adding the park is 
underutilized. The likes the idea of the pathways circling the park. Commissioner 
Becker said the basin will really look beautiful and the developer will maintain it for 
3-4 years will benefit us. Commissioner Bird said the developers already have a plan 
for the basin. They already have ERA civil engineers working with them to design 
the native wet bottom basin, they can also design the playground area. Executive 
Director Rini commented that the Board still wants to be able to approve the plan, 
but not spend our money for that work. Commissioner Bird likes this idea, adding 
that the park will look beautiful. Commissioner Parisi likes the idea to improve the 
basin and add a play area. We should continue to negotiate. Commissioner Powers 
still disagrees with the plan. Commissioner Jeffery wants to continue to discuss this 
with the Village and the developer, and move forward with negotiations. Executive 
Director Rini recapped the conversation, with the Board in favor of continued 
negotiation; exploration of ERA designing the play area; we are not overly 
concerned about the long term maintenance anymore knowing that the Village and 
DuPage County Stormwater Commissioner will have some say in the quality of the 
work in the basin. 
 
Commissioner Powers left the meeting at 7:50. 
 

F. Weekly Happenings (oral) 
• Commissioner Bird was impressed by the article written by Division Manager 

Mondlock. Very well done! 
• Commissioner Pauling brought up the condition of the bleachers on the west 

side of Red Hawk Park. She also asked about the scoreboards at the park. 
They found a box of supplies for the scoreboards and they are interested in 
making it work again. Both Executive Director Rini and Commissioner Bird 
recalled that the football affiliate owns the scoreboards. Executive Director 
Rini will confirm that.  

• Commissioner Parisi brought up the future sale of St. Luke’s Church and 
would like to discuss the pro and cons of considering the property for 
additional programming space for the Park District. Executive Director Rini 



 

explained that staff is aware of significant repairs that are needed. Several 
commissioners commented on the importance of taking care of what we 
have in lieu of acquiring a new property that will need lots of work.  

• Commissioner Bird asked what is going on with the high humidity at Simkus 
Recreation Center. Executive Director said Frank Parisi from Williams 
Architects came to look at the gym floor and believes the HVAC system is 
failing. Director Hamilton is concerned there may be a water leak from the 
pool that has slowly found its way under the building. He mentioned 
contacting Stuckey (who did the major pool renovation in 2023) for an 
evaluation.  Commissioner Parisi will share the name of a mechanical 
engineer who specializes in humidity mitigation with whom he has worked 
in the past. 

  
Action Items A. Ratify:  Treasurers Report – Second Quarter 2025 

Director Scumaci asked if there were any questions or comments about the 
Treasurers Report. Commissioner Parisi said it is very detailed.  
Commissioner Bird made a motion to ratify the Treasurers Report for the Second 
Quarter 2025 as presented. Seconded by Commissioner Becker. 

Voice Vote. All in favor. None opposed. Motion Passes. 
  
Closed Session None 
  
Action 
Pertaining to 
Closed Session 

None  

  
Adjournment Commissioner Witteck made a motion to adjourn the meeting. Seconded by Commissioner 

Becker. Voice Vote taken. Motion passed 7-0-0. Meeting adjourned at8:14  pm. 
 
 
       __________________________ 

President 
Jacqueline Jeffery 

 
 
 
___________________________ 
Secretary  
Sue Rini 
 
 
August 25, 2025 
Date 



8/20/2025

1

August 11, 2025

Presentation To:

Introduction to 
Meristem Advisors

&
Borrowing Capabilities

ABOUT MERISTEM ADVISORS
About the team, history with the District, and local area clients



8/20/2025

2

2

About Meristem Advisors LLC

 Meristem Advisors LLC was formed with the intention to serve municipal governments on a broader range of needs 
than traditional municipal advisory firms
 Debt Issuance
 Budgeting, levy and financial planning
 Feasibility reports
 Referendum Support

 As a municipal advisory firm, Meristem Advisors has a fiduciary responsibility to the District, putting our clients’ 
interest ahead of our own and providing advice without undisclosed conflicts 

 Meristem Advisors brings extensive experience with financial modeling, helping clients plan and execute their 
financial plans and explain their impact to the community

 Andy Arndt has worked with the District since 2005 and as an investment banker for over 10 years. His familiarity 
with the District will ensure its objectives guide the transaction.

 For bond issues, Andy will team with Meristem Advisors’ President, James Rachlin, who has 25 years of experience 
working with Illinois governments and non-profits for their borrowing needs
 Andy will guide the overall strategic direction of the issue, while James will oversee the day-to-day execution 
 Meristem Advisors knows the strengths and weaknesses of all the industry competitors, so that the District can 

make an informed choice when the time comes to sell its bonds
 As a municipal advisor, Meristem Advisors can assist the District in making the right decisions regarding how to 

sell its bonds, whether through negotiated or competitive sale, based on market conditions and other factors at 
the time of sale

 By focusing on a client’s goals over time rather than static studies, Meristem provides a dynamic relationship for 
analyzing, monitoring and reacting to changes in the client’s situation

ABOUT MERISTEM ADVISORS

3

The Meristem Advisors Team

 Jamie Rachlin
 Launched Meristem in 2018 as President/sole proprietor and has 30+ years of 

experience in Public Finance as an analyst, underwriter and municipal advisor

 Andy Arndt
 20 years experience in Public Finance as an analyst, underwriter and municipal advisor

 Andy Mace
 Over 30+ years of experience as an auditor in the public sector

 Stratford Shields
 30+ years of experience service very large issuers across the country

 Kenneth Friedrich
 40-year veteran of the public finance industry



8/20/2025

3

4

Andy Arndt Has Personally Served These Nearby Clients in the Recent Past:

ABOUT MERISTEM ADVISORS

5

ABOUT MERISTEM ADVISORS

Meristem Advisors’ Goal is to Develop and Maintain Long Term Relationships

Taxing Body Role Provided Bonds Issued

Building on past relationships and service to
Chicago Park District, Meristem was selected
to serve as Municipal Advisor to the District
on the planned move of its headquarters to
48th and Western.

 Prior to Meristem Advisors
 GO Bonds, Series 2013
 GO Bonds, Series 2015

 Debt Certificates, May 2023

Meristem Advisors designed a financial plan
for the Park District to enable them to afford a
major gymnasium addition to their facility by
maximizing bond proceeds to cover the rising
costs of the project.

 General Obligation Park Bonds, Series 2024

Jamie’s relationship with Western Springs SD
101 stretches back to 1996, and
encompasses voted and non-voted bonds as
well as an operating rate referendum.

 Alternate Revenue Bonds, Series 2003
 Alternate Revenue Bonds, Series 2006
 Alternate Rev. Refunding Bonds, Series 2012
 G.O. Limited Bonds, Series 2014A
 Alternate Revenue Bonds, Series 2014B-C
 Alternate Rev. Refunding Bonds, Series 2015

Jamie has helped Thornton Fractional THSD
215 for many years, starting with its 2002
referendum and subsequently refunding
those issues and structuring additional voted
and non-voted issues including Build America
Bonds.

 General Obligation Bonds Series 2002-2003
 Alternate Revenue Bonds, Series 2009 
 G.O. and G.O. Limited Bonds, Series 2012
 G.O. and G.O. Limited Bonds, Series 2013
 Alternate Revenue Bonds, Series 2014 

References for these and any other school districts Meristem has worked with are available on request.



8/20/2025

4

6

ABOUT MERISTEM ADVISORS

Comprehensive Bond Issue Execution

P
re

pa
ra

tio
n

Development and Execution of the 
Financial Plan.

Working with the District, we will structure 
and execute the financing plan, structure 
debt repayment schedules, organize and 
manage the transaction team, obtain 
ratings for the bonds, and execute the 
issuance.

Rating Agency Preparation.

We will work with the District to clearly 
present the District’s strengths, using 
our knowledge of the process and 
long history with the rating agencies 
to obtain the best possible rating. We 
will prepare a rating presentation and 
rehearse it with the District prior to the 
presentation.

Referendum Support.

When a referendum is required, 
Meristem Advisors will help 
evaluate referendum 
requirements and options, and 
provide guidance in getting to 
the ballot. We provide a clear 
voice to explain the plan at the 
referendum community 
gatherings.

E
xe

cu
tio

n

Public Sale of Bonds.

Meristem Advisors will manage the sale of 
the bonds, including selection between a 
negotiated and competitive sale. For a 
competitive sale, Meristem will ensure the 
issue is widely circulated to capture the 
maximum number of bids. 

Negotiated Sale of Bonds

As a former Banker, Jamie Rachlin 
knows the strengths and weaknesses of 
the various industry players, which will be 
instrumental in selecting an underwriter. 
We’ll evaluate the market, and ensure 
that the final interest rates are fair and 
reasonable.

Private Placement.

Private placements are a simplified 
and more flexible way to borrow 
than traditional public offerings that 
can have merit in certain situations. 
Placements can provide a lower all-
in cost of borrowing and add 
needed flexibility. 

F
ol

lo
w

 U
p

Post-issuance Compliance.

Although Meristem’s formal engagement 
ends with the bond closing, we will remain 
available for consultation regarding post-
issuance compliance and matters that 
inevitably arise after the completion of the 
transaction.

Continuing Disclosure.

Most municipal borrowers agree to post 
financial information annually for the 
benefit of investors. Meristem Advisors 
can assist with annual filings.

Continuing Resource for the 
District.

Well after the bonds are sold, 
Meristem hopes to be a resource to 
the District for budget, levying and 
forecasting.

7

Example Scope of Services – Bond Execution

ABOUT MERISTEM ADVISORS

• Evaluate Options. Evaluate financing options or alternatives with respect to the proposed Issue(s)

• Establish Plan of Financing, Assist Client in establishing a plan of financing, including the structure, timing, terms and 
other similar matters concerning the Issue(s) 

• Review 3rd Party Proposals. Review recommendations made by other parties to Client with respect to the new Issue(s)

• Monitor Markets. Consult with and/or advise Client on actual or potential changes in market place practices, market 
conditions, regulatory requirements or other matters that may have an impact on Client and its financing plans

• Scheduling and Coordination. Prepare the financing schedule, and provide assistance as to scheduling, coordinating 
and meeting procedural requirements relating to any Issue(s)

• Select Team. Assist Client in selecting legal and other professionals (such as trustee, escrow agent, accountant, feasibility 
consultant, etc.) to work on the Issue(s)

• Document Review. Assist in the preparation and/or review the preliminary and final official statement, and review all 
financing documents

• Meet with Client. Consult and meet with representatives of Client and its agents or consultants with respect to the 
Issue(s)

• Respond to 3rd Party Inquiries. Respond to questions from bidders, underwriters or potential investors

• Facilitate Rating Review. Arrange and facilitate visits to, prepare materials for, and make recommendations to Client in 
connection with credit ratings agencies, insurers and other credit or liquidity providers

• Manage Sale of the Bonds. Make arrangements for printing, advertising and other vendor services necessary or 
appropriate in connection with the publication of the Preliminary and Final Official Statements

• Advise on Type of Sale. Advise Client on the manner of sale of the Issue(s)

• Provide Market Benchmarks. At the time of sale, provide Client with relevant data on comparable issues recently or 
currently being sold nationally and by comparable Clients



8/20/2025

5

8

Why Meristem Advisors?

 Registered municipal advisor, with a fiduciary responsibility to the District

 Experienced team with demonstrated history of successfully executing bond issues

 Meristem becomes a team member, available to assist with ongoing budget and levy 
development, present to the Board, and advise on the District’s financial strategy

 Meristem has assisted clients on 24 individual financings, with more in process, 
encompassing competitive and negotiated sales, public offerings and private 
placements, general obligation bonds and debt certificates

 Andy Arndt was a banker for 7 years and spent nearly 5 years prior structuring bond 
issues before forming Meristem Advisors

 Meristem has proven capabilities

 Over 50 active Illinois clients
 Regular presenter at forums, conferences and seminars

ABOUT MERISTEM ADVISORS

District’s Current Debt and Capabilities
EAV trend, debt limits, DSEB/availability, market trends, structures and impacts 



8/20/2025

6

10

Recent Trend of the District’s Equalized Assessed Valuation

11

 EAV Debt Limit Applicable Debt

Debt Margin/     

Max. New Principal

Non-Voted Margin (0.575%) $1,921,869,190 $11,050,747.84 $5,205,000 $5,845,747.84

Overall Margin (2.875%) $1,921,869,190 $55,253,739.21 $54,214,880 $1,038,859.46

Year 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

Equalized Assessed Value 

(EAV)
$1,541,615,718 $1,572,213,867 $1,643,109,147 $1,768,566,212 $1,921,869,190

Non-Voted Debt Limit 

@0.575% of EAV
$8,864,290.38 $9,040,230 $9,447,878 $10,169,256 $11,050,748

Overall Debt Limit   @2.875% 

of EAV
$44,321,451.89 $45,201,149 $47,239,388 $50,846,279 $55,253,739

History of the District’s Equalized Assessed Value & Current Debt Limit Calculation

 The District has two debt limits that differ based upon the type of debt outstanding

 Currently the District can sell up to $5,845,000 of non-referendum bonds

 Unlimited Tax bonds would require a new referendum, and certain of the District’s outstanding bonds are exempt 
from this limitation



8/20/2025

7

12

History of the District’s Debt Service Extension Base (DSEB)

 The District’s original base was set under 
the Property Tax Extension Limitation Law

 Starting in 2009, the DSEB was allowed to 
grow at a rate of CPI for PTELL (maximum 
5% annually)

 The average annual CPI over the last 15 
years is 2.20% per year

 The District can levy up to the DSEB, and 
no more, for debt service due on Limited 
Bonds payable from the DSEB

Year 

Collected Levy Year Original Base CPI New Base

2010 2009 318,987.00 0.10% 319,305.99

2011 2010 319,305.99 2.70% 327,927.25

2012 2011 327,927.25 1.50% 332,846.16

2013 2012 332,846.16 3.00% 342,831.54

2014 2013 342,831.54 1.70% 348,659.68

2015 2014 348,659.68 1.50% 353,889.57

2016 2015 353,889.57 0.80% 356,720.69

2017 2016 356,720.69 0.70% 359,217.73

2018 2017 359,217.73 2.10% 366,761.31

2019 2018 366,761.31 2.10% 374,463.29

2020 2019 374,463.29 1.90% 381,578.10

2021 2020 381,578.10 2.30% 390,354.39

2022 2021 390,354.39 1.40% 395,819.36

2023 2022 395,819.36 5.00% 415,610.32

2024 2023 415,610.32 5.00% 436,390.84

2025 2024 436,390.84 3.40% 451,228.13

2026 2025 451,228.13 2.90% 464,313.74

13

Illustration of District’s Outstanding Limited Bonds vs. Available DSEB 
(Assumes 1.50% Annual Increase)

Series 2020A, Series 2020B & 
Series 2021A Bonds Outstanding

Potential Debt 
Service Availability 
for Future Limited 

Bond Issuance

 Note:
 Limited Park Bonds can go out a total of 25 years



8/20/2025

8

14

Overview of Current Borrowing Opportunities Available

 REFINANCE - the certain of the outstanding 2016 Bonds
 Current savings estimates:
 $875,000 of gross savings
 $688,000 of present value (PV) savings (6-7% of the refunded bonds)
 Sensitivity: 0.10% change in rates equates to approx. $75,000-80,000 change in PV 

savings

 NEW MONEY - Issue new Limited Tax Park Bonds for projects:
 Current statutory margin for non-referendum bonds is approximately $5,845,000 of 

principal
 Current interest rates could allow us to generate approx. $2.7-3.0 million of new money
 This can be used for various capital projects on the horizon
 Capacity will be very sensitive to interest rates at the time of issuance
 Maximizing new money will require some restructuring of outstanding bonds

 Attempting to capture this new money will extend LT bond payments by 8-9 years

15

Interest Rates Have Remained Stubbornly High

• The tax-exempt yield curve has underperformed Treasuries and “bear-
steepened” year-to-date in sympathy with the US rates markets

127bps

227bps



8/20/2025

9

16

Interest Rates: What’s in Store?

• Market Movers Year-to-Date
- Increasing clarity regarding US trade policy has not coalesced around 

potential inflationary impact
- FY26 budget increases deficit growth
- Resilience in the US labor market has allowed Fed to remain on hold 

year-to-date, but for how long?
- YTD record muni supply pace coupled with elevated rate volatility 

create a broader headwind in tax-exempts

• Municipal Rates and Ratio Drivers Looking Forward
- High Grade tax-exempts likely to follow rate and term structure direction. 

The "bear steepener" that has occurred in fixed income markets is 
arguably the worst rate and curve direction for ratios which is reflected 
in muni underperformance

- Federal grants and appropriations uncertainty increases angst around 
municipal credit and overall volatility in credit spreads.

17

Meristem’s Transaction History



8/20/2025

10

18

Contact:

Andy Arndt
Vice President
Meristem Advisors

Tel: 630-862-5686
Email: AArndt@MeristemAdvisors.com

19

General Disclaimer

This presentation was prepared exclusively for the benefit of and internal use by the Recipient for the purpose of considering the transaction or transactions contemplated herein.
This material is for general information purposes only and is not intended to provide specific advice or a specific recommendation. The information and analyses contained in this
presentation are taken from, or based upon, information obtained from Recipient or from publicly available sources, the completeness and accuracy of which have not been
independently verified, and cannot be assured by Meristem Advisors LLC (”Meristem Advisors”). The information and any analyses in these materials reflect prevailing market
conditions and the opinions of Meristem Advisors as of the date of the presentation, all of which are subject to change. To the extent that projections and financial analyses are
set forth herein, they may be based on estimated financial performance prepared by or in consultation with the recipient and are intended to suggest only reasonable ranges of
results. The printed presentation is incomplete without reference to the oral presentation or other printed materials that supplement it.

These materials are confidential and proprietary to, and may not be reproduced, disseminated or referred to, in whole or in part without the prior consent of Meristem Advisors.
These materials have been prepared exclusively for the Recipient and may not be used for any purpose other than as authorized in writing by Meristem Advisors. Meristem
Advisors assumes no responsibility for verification of the information in these materials, and no representation or warranty is made as to the accuracy or completeness of such
information. Meristem Advisors assumes no obligation to correct or update these materials. These materials do not contain all information that may be required to evaluate, and
do not constitute a recommendation with respect to, any transaction or matter. Any recipient of these materials should conduct its own independent analysis of the matters
referred to herein.

Meristem Advisors does not provide tax or legal advice or advice with respect to the issuance of municipal securities. Any discussion of such matters in these materials (i) is not
intended to be used, and cannot be used or relied upon, for the purposes of avoiding any tax penalties and (ii) may have been written in connection with the “promotion or
marketing” of the transaction or matter described herein. Accordingly, the recipient should seek advice based on its particular circumstances from an independent tax advisor.

Special Disclaimers

Interest rates used herein are hypothetical and may not take into full consideration conditions in today’s market and other factual information such as the issuer’s credit rating, 
geographic location and market sector. Interest rates applied herein are hypothetical and should not be viewed as rates that the Recipient should expect to achieve. Information 
about interest rates and terms for SLGs is based on current publically available information and treasury or agency rates for open-market escrows, and current market interest 
rates for these types of credits and should not be seen as costs or rates that the Recipient should expect to achieve.

The municipalities, agencies, and other entities identified in this presentation are meant to be representative of James Rachlin’s experience over his career and are not 
necessarily past or current clients of Meristem Advisors. Meristem Advisors is an independent firm and is not affiliated with any broker-dealer, underwriter, or any other firm. 
Meristem Advisors does not provide underwriting services. The information contained in this presentation does not constitute investment advice, or legal advice, and is provided 
solely for informational purposes.

If you have any questions or concerns about these disclosures, then you should make those questions or concerns known immediately to Meristem Advisors. In addition, you 
should consult with your own municipal, legal, accounting, tax and other advisors, as applicable, to the extent you deem appropriate.

Disclaimers



 

 

 

The Carol Stream Park District Board of Commissioners 

2026 Schedule of Regular Board Meetings 

 
Board Meetings will be held at 

Carol Stream Park District 
Fountain View Recreation Center 

910 North Gary Avenue 
Carol Stream, IL 60188 

at 6:00 pm 
 

on the second and/or fourth Monday of the month (unless noted) 
following a schedule adopted by the Board of Commissioners . 

 
Following are the dates for all Board Meetings for the year of 2026. 

 

Second Monday Fourth Monday  
 
January 12 January 26 
February 9 February 23 
March 9 No meeting 
April 13 April 27 
May 1 1  No meeting 
June 8 June 22 
July 13 No meeting 
August 10 August 24 
September 14 September 28 
October 13  * October 26 
November 9 No meeting 
December 14 No meeting 

 

*2nd Tuesday to accommodate Columbus Day - October 12 
 



 

 

To: Board of Commissioners 
From: Renee Bachewicz, Director of Recreation 
Date: August 25, 2025 
Discussion: Armstrong Park Concessions Update Agenda Item #: 6A 

 
 
Over the past few years, staff have been exploring the feasibility of adding a concessions 
operation at Armstrong Park. Because Armstrong Park is located within a floodplain, a 
permanent structure near the central hub is not an option.  
 
As an alternative, staff have evaluated several possibilities, including:  
• A temporary concessions setup 
• A Park District–owned food truck or trailer 
• Partnerships with established food truck vendors for a fee 
 
The Park District operates a successful concessions operation at McCaslin Park. Armstrong 
Park’s season and usage will never sustain the same level of business as McCaslin Park due to 
dirt fields, floodplain, no electric and one less field in the hub. Armstrong Park poses many 
factors that have to be taken into consideration. Staff have taken a deeper dive into owning a 
food trailer to sell concessions at Armstrong Park and brings this information for discussion to 
the Board. 
 
Opportunities: 
• Servicing a desire for concessions at Armstrong Park. 
• Captive audience in the hub due to limited nearby neighborhood food competition.  
• Lower concession staff needed inside the trailer. 
• Flexible hours of operation. 
• Option to move food trailer to other Park District locations for events such as Community 

Park or Red Hawk Park (pending Health Department classification and permit restrictions).  
• Food trailer 8.5x16 feet – fully equipped concessions kitchen with serving windows. 
• Utilizing the open concrete pad in the hub to park the trailer. 
 
Challenges 
• Armstrong Park houses primarily in-house games during weekdays and about 6-8 smaller 

tournaments on the weekends.  
• If there is rain the tournaments are canceled or relocated to McCaslin Park’s turf fields. Poor 

weather conditions can reduce foot traffic and sales.  
o Preparation time will be spent before inclement weather is known. 

• Tournament size fluctuates and are typically much smaller in size compared to those held at 
McCaslin Park.  



 

 

• Short season of beginning of May – end of July and then end of August through mid-
October. 

• Initial quote for a Park District owned fully equipped food trailer is approximately $64,000. 
Limited space would limit ability to grow menu options and would affect efficiency during 
peak times. 

• Daily usage requires emptying of the waste water tank and the refilling of the hot water 
tank. This would require the trailer to be hooked up to a truck and driven to a waste water 
dumping site, most likely the Village of Carol Stream’s Water Reclamation Center, but 
weekend dumping as an option is unknown at this time. A Parks Department staff would be 
needed to haul the trailer and dump the gray water. 

• The hub does not have power. A gas generator would be needed and would require refilling 
of gasoline. This would result in additional staff time to manually move product from the 
main storage location to the food trailer and back daily as no product can stay on-site 
outside of operating hours.  

• An estimate to install power in the hub and a waste water dumping station is approximately 
$40,000. 

• The Food Trailer would need to be parked indoors during the winter months. 
• Managing a lower-revenue stand may require staff time that could otherwise be devoted to 

the larger higher-revenue facility. 
• Feedback from current food trucks is causing hesitation on whether or not a food trailer will 

benefit the Concessions Department and the Carol Stream Park District. 
 
Draft Budget: 
YEAR 1 including cost of the food trailer 
• Food trailer initial quote estimated $64,000 - fully equipped 
• Estimated expenses: $96,641 
• Estimated revenue: $35,262 
• Net: -$61,379 
Based on this estimated budget the total return on investment would take 3 YEARS 
 
YEAR 2 removing the cost of the food trailer 
• Estimated expenses: $32,652 
• Estimated revenue: $52,893 
• Net: $20,241 
• If it is determined that this is a viable business operation we would propose installing 

permanent electric and waste water dumping station in the hub (if permitted within the 
parameters of a flood plain area) at a roughly estimated cost between $40,000-$50,000. That 
new expense would require approximately 2 years to recover. 

 
 
 



 

 

This exercise was enlightening.  It may explain why Park Districts have not invested in their own 
food trailers. Our core business is recreation with concessions as an amenity. We would not 
have the same following as a popular restaurant; we could not compete with them. 
 
Based on these factors, staff believes continuing outside food truck options or a much smaller 
scale in-house, temporary operation is a better alternative. If we invite outside food trucks to 
Armstrong Park we would develop a fee-based permit and/or percentage of total sales. Less 
revenue, but no overhead. Alternatively, we could move towards a small scale in-house, 
temporary operation (tent, cooler, on-site grill).  Unknown net earnings, but with no large 
investments and limited overhead, there would be an immediate profit margin.  
 
Staff seeks Board’s input on the information presented and how concession operations should 
be offered at Armstrong Park.  
 

 
 



 

 

To: Board of Commissioners 
From: Sue Rini, Executive Director 
Date: August 25, 2025 
Discussion: Strategic Plan Agenda Item #: 6B 

 
 
Attached is the District’s new Strategic Plan, Executive Summary, and a Tracking Template 
which staff will utilize for coordinating and tracking progress. The title pages are being updated 
to reflect a date of 2026-2029 so it aligns with our fiscal year. 
 
While the Executive Summary provides a snapshot of the District’s Strategic Goals and Priority 
Areas. The full plan includes the process used to create the plan, and dives into the goals that 
were developed to address those priority areas.   
 
The full plan establishes 6 Priority Areas: 
 

• Community Connection and Engagement 
• Financial Sustainability 
• Innovative and Secure Infrastructure 
• Comprehensive Programming and Services 
• Staff Development and Retention 
• Facility Assessment and Improvement 

 
Within each of these priority areas, specific goals are ranked in order of priority level. The 
supporting Tracking Template will help staff plan, coordinate, and report on progress against 
goals.  
 
The next step will be for Directors to meet with their staff to create the ‘how to’ that includes:  

• Assigning goal leader/secondary leader and their roles  
• Identifying others involved and their roles 
• Funding needs or sources, and  
• Timeline, and action to achieve the goals.  

 
We will meet as a team to review the plans and go from there. This will serve as our road map 
starting in 2026 for organizational and departmental goals.  
 



1

STRATEGIC PLANNING AND 
GOAL DEVELOPMENT INITIATIVE

2025-2028
PREPARED JULY 2025

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Center for Governmental Studies
Northern Illinois University

DeKalb, IL 60115

Carol Stream Park District

https://www.csparks.org/
https://www.cgs.niu.edu/
debbieg
Cross-Out

debbieg
Typewritten Text
2026-2029



1

Introduction

Visioning for the Future

In June 2024, the Carol Stream Park District (the “District”) engaged the Northern Illinois University Center for 
Governmental Studies (“NIU-CGS”) to facilitate its strategic planning process.
The strategic planning process included collecting internal and external feedback, consisting of focus groups with 
community stakeholders and staff as well as interviews with the Board of Commissioners and administrative leadership. 
Themes emerging from this feedback were shared at the District’s strategic planning leadership workshop held in 
February 2025. The findings were used to assist workshop participants in making informed decisions related to crafting 
a strategic vision and future direction for the District as an organization and for the community it serves. Ultimately, 
workshop participants created strategic goals and priority areas focusing on where the District wants to go in both the 
short and long term. 
Executive-level strategic planning sessions are a staple for progressive organizations and are recommended to be done 
regularly. The full report provides a summary of the process and presents the consensus on strategic directions and 
goals for the District.

During the strategic planning workshop, participants engaged in a visioning exercise to describe the desired future 
direction of the District by answering the question: “If you left the District and the community for 10-15 years, what 
do you think or hope to see when you return?” The word cloud summarizes their responses.

https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fi/ddk4u25lo8oqt0jpp0tfi/Carol-Stream-Park-District-Full-Strategic-Planning-Report_Final_for-transmittal.pdf?rlkey=9k49ezo6pcfms5zwh6dlru1v0&st=m95amu13&dl=0


2

2

PRIORITY AREA: COMMUNITY CONNECTION AND ENGAGEMENT

PRIORITY AREA: FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY

PRIORITY AREA: INNOVATIVE AND SECURE INFRASTRUCTURE

PRIORITY AREA: COMPREHENSIVE PROGRAMMING AND SERVICES

Strategic Goals and Priority Areas

STRATEGIC PRIORITY AREAS

At the strategic planning leadership workshop, stakeholder input from the focus groups and 
interviews was shared in thematic form to help inform a series of discussions about the Park 
District’s future. Participants ultimately used the workshop discussions and exercises to develop 
short- and long-term goals for the District. 

Based on an evaluation of the entirety of the process, including interviews, focus groups, 
discussions at the workshop, and the goals developed, the NIU-CGS team worked with Park District staff to 
identify six high-level strategic priority areas. These priority areas represent larger themes or priorities that encompass all 
the strategic goals and highlight the activities and initiatives that the Park District will focus on in both the short and long 
term. In total, workshop participants developed 23 goals aligned with the six identified priority areas. The Park District’s six 
priority areas are listed and defined next.

This priority area focuses on strengthening communication, outreach, and partnerships with residents and 
community organizations. Key initiatives include enhancing marketing and digital communication strategies, 
addressing language access barriers, and engaging non-users of Park District facilities. Efforts also involve 
creating opportunities for inclusive community input and supporting connection across all ages, abilities, 
and cultures.

Maintaining a strong financial foundation is essential to the long-term success of any organization. This 
strategic priority emphasizes diversifying revenue streams through expanded concessions, increased 
sponsorships, targeted fundraising efforts, and the pursuit of grant opportunities. It also includes the ongoing, 
strategic management of financial obligations and the thoughtful exploration of growth opportunities—
such as property acquisitions or improvements—that align with the organization’s mission and long-term 
sustainability. Effective budgeting and financial planning are essential to ensure that resources are allocated 
in support of both immediate needs and future goals.

This area addresses improvements to both physical infrastructure and digital technology systems. Initiatives 
include updating emergency preparedness plans, enhancing facility security, and implementing technology 
upgrades to improve operational efficiency. Additional efforts include exploring emerging AI and provide 
staff training to support infrastructure enhancements.

Delivering diverse and responsive programming is critical to the mission of the Park District. Priorities include 
expanding access in underserved areas, increasing active adult and senior offerings, and incorporating 
emerging recreation trends. These efforts are intended to meet the evolving needs and interests of the 
community.

https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fi/ddk4u25lo8oqt0jpp0tfi/Carol-Stream-Park-District-Full-Strategic-Planning-Report_Final_for-transmittal.pdf?rlkey=9k49ezo6pcfms5zwh6dlru1v0&st=m95amu13&dl=0


3

STRATEGIC PRIORITY AREAS

HIGH-RANKING STRATEGIC GOALS

PRIORITY AREA: STAFF DEVELOPMENT AND RETENTION

PRIORITY AREA: FACILITY ASSESSMENT AND IMPROVEMENT

Develop a structured Communication Plan to effectively engage external partners, customers, 
and stakeholders.

Create a Staff Retention Program/Plan.

Integrate programming related to emerging trends.

Remain financially sustainable and maintain adequate funding for future repairs and 
replacements.

Explore safety needs at all Park District facilities.

Expand access to programming and facilities in the underserved areas of the community.

Review Park District staffing levels.

Increase the quality of the Park District’s athletic fields.

This priority area focuses on investing in staff capacity and support. Key initiatives involve evaluating staffing 
levels, offering professional development, and implementing strategies to improve retention and succession 
planning. Enhancing workplace culture and providing growth opportunities contribute to a stable, skilled, 
and fulfilled workforce.

This priority area focuses on ongoing evaluation and upgrades to facilities. Activities include renovations to 
the Simkus Recreation Center, improvements to athletic fields, and identification of opportunities for new 
indoor spaces. Capital improvement planning and ADA compliance guide efforts to ensure facilities remain 
safe, functional, and accessible for all.

Workshop participants were asked to delineate, via an online ranking exercise after the workshop, which goals should 
be given the highest priority. The goals were ranked within their respective priority area by participants, resulting in a 
dashboard that highlights high, medium, and lower-ranked goals. Below is a snapshot of the top high-ranking goals across 
all priorities. The following highest priority goals are offered as a process “snapshot”, representing the most important 
strategic goals for the Board and staff to address in the months and years ahead. To view the full list of goals developed 
and ranking methodology, please refer to the full report.

https://www.dropbox.com/scl/fi/ddk4u25lo8oqt0jpp0tfi/Carol-Stream-Park-District-Full-Strategic-Planning-Report_Final_for-transmittal.pdf?rlkey=9k49ezo6pcfms5zwh6dlru1v0&st=m95amu13&dl=0


4

Strategic Plan Process Acknowledgements

CAROL STREAM PARK DISTRICT BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS
Jacqueline Jeffery, President

Brenda Gramann, Vice President

Dan Bird, Commissioner

Adam Parisi, Commissioner

Tim Powers, Commissioner

Brian Sokolowski, Commissioner

Sara Witteck, Commissioner

CAROL STREAM PARK DISTRICT ADMINISTRATIVE LEADERSHIP 
Sue Rini, Executive Director

Renee Bachewicz, Director of Recreation 

Shane Hamilton, Director of Parks and Facilities 

Lisa Scumaci, Director of Finance and IT 

Christine Quinn, Director of Human Resources and Administrative Services

CAROL STREAM PARK DISTRICT COMMUNITY AND STAKEHOLDERS
The Park District would also like to thank all the community members who participated 
in the stakeholder feedback phase of the process. An effective strategic plan includes 
feedback from stakeholders to ensure that needs and expectations are shared and 

understood by leaders of the organization.

Process facilitated by Northern Illinois University Center for Governmental Studies

Mel Henriksen, MPP

Assistant Director
Strategic Management, Policy, and 

Community Development

Northern Illinois University’s Center 
for Governmental Studies

Alli Aiston, MPA

Research Specialist
Strategic Management, Policy, and 

Community Development

Northern Illinois University’s Center 
for Governmental Studies

Jeanna Ballard, MPA

Senior Research Specialist
Strategic Management, Policy, and 

Community Development

Northern Illinois University’s Center 
for Governmental Studies

https://www.cgs.niu.edu/
mailto:mhenriksen@niu.edu
mailto:ahoebing1@niu.edu
mailto:jballard5@niu.edu


STRATEGIC PLANNING AND 
GOAL DEVELOPMENT INITIATIVE

2025-2028

Carol Stream Park District

PREPARED JULY 2025

FULL REPORT

Center for Governmental Studies
Northern Illinois University

DeKalb, IL 60115

https://www.csparks.org/
https://www.cgs.niu.edu/
debbieg
Cross-Out

debbieg
Typewritten Text
2026-2029



Strategic Plan Process Acknowledgements

CAROL STREAM PARK DISTRICT BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS
Jacqueline Jeffery, President

Brenda Gramann, Vice President

Dan Bird, Commissioner

Adam Parisi, Commissioner

Tim Powers, Commissioner

Brian Sokolowski, Commissioner

Sara Witteck, Commissioner

CAROL STREAM PARK DISTRICT ADMINISTRATIVE LEADERSHIP 
Sue Rini, Executive Director

Renee Bachewicz, Director of Recreation 

Shane Hamilton, Director of Parks and Facilities 

Lisa Scumaci, Director of Finance and IT 

Christine Quinn, Director of Human Resources and Administrative Services

 
CAROL STREAM PARK DISTRICT COMMUNITY AND 

STAKEHOLDERS
The Park District would also like to thank all the community members who 
participated in the stakeholder feedback phase of the process. An effective 

strategic plan includes feedback from stakeholders to ensure that needs and 
expectations are shared and understood by leaders of the organization.

 

Process facilitated by Northern Illinois University Center for Governmental Studies

Mel Henriksen, MPP
Assistant Director

Strategic Management, Policy, and 
Community Development

Northern Illinois University’s Center 
for Governmental Studies

Alli Aiston, MPA
Research Specialist

Strategic Management, Policy, and 
Community Development

Northern Illinois University’s Center 
for Governmental Studies

Jeanna Ballard, MPA
Senior Research Specialist

Strategic Management, Policy, and 
Community Development

Northern Illinois University’s Center 
for Governmental Studies

https://www.cgs.niu.edu/


Contents

Carol Stream Park District Background 	 1

Introduction	 1

Pre-Workshop – Environmental Scanning and Stakeholder Input	 2

Leadership Workshop – Outline of Exercises and Discussion Sessions	 3

Strategic Priority Areas	 8

Post-Workshop – Goal Prioritization and Ranking Exercise	 9

Conclusion		  15

Appendix A: Focus Group and Leadership Interview Feedback 	 16

Appendix B: Surrender or Lead Exercise	 20

Appendix C: Strategic Priority Area Goal and Stakeholder Feedback Alignment	 21



1 Carol Stream Park District Background and Introduction

Carol Stream Park District Background 
The Carol Stream Park District, established in 1964, serves the residents of Carol Stream, Illinois, by offering a range of 
recreational programs and maintaining its parks and recreation facilities. Spanning more than 40 parks and 360 acres of 
land, the District provides access to athletic fields, playgrounds, trails, natural areas, and community gathering spaces. 
Main facilities include the Fountain View Recreation Center and the Simkus Recreation Center, which host a variety of 
fitness, aquatic, and community programming for all age groups.

Governed by a publicly elected Board of Commissioners, the Park District operates with a focus on fiscal responsibility, 
community engagement, and environmental stewardship. Its mission is to enrich the community by delivering exceptional 
experiences in recreation, fitness, and fun, while promoting a healthy and active lifestyle1. Through thoughtful planning 
and responsive service, the District continues to adapt to the evolving needs of its residents and strives to enhance the 
overall quality of life in the community.

To read more about the Carol Stream Park District, visit https://www.csparks.org/ 

Introduction
Strategic planning is an effective way to 
identify and confirm the Park District’s vision 
for the future and set organizational purpose 
and direction by incorporating clear priorities 
and measurable goals. To this end, the Carol 
Stream Park District (the “District”) engaged 
the Northern Illinois University Center for 
Governmental Studies (“NIU-CGS”) in June 
2024 to facilitate its strategic planning process 
(Figure 1). The value of such processes 
continues to be recognized by policy-making 
boards, councils, and executive staffs in both 
private and public organizations.

In October and November 2024, the NIU-
CGS team gathered internal and external 
stakeholder input that was shared at the 
strategic planning leadership workshop held 
in February 2025. The workshop offered elected officials and administrative leadership an opportunity to explore the Park 
District’s vision for the future, to engage and listen to its internal and external stakeholders, and, ultimately, create short- 
and long-term goals and establish priority areas. It also provided a positive atmosphere where workshop participants could 
discuss the best ways to serve the District and the broader community in the coming years. 

It is important to keep in mind that the judicious use of the District’s limited resources, including financial resources and 
professional staff time, is key to achieving good results. Only a limited number of goals and objectives can be managed 
and implemented effectively at any given time. In a very realistic sense, clear and stable priorities must be maintained if 
the District desires to stretch its resources as far as they can go.
 

1https://www.csparks.org/about-us/mission-vision-values/

https://www.csparks.org/ 
https://www.csparks.org/about-us/mission-vision-values/


2Pre-Workshop– Enviornmental Scanning and Stakeholder Input

Pre-Workshop – 
Environmental Scanning and Stakeholder Input
The District’s leadership recognizes the importance of gaining a comprehensive understanding of their organization and 
the broader community they serve by gathering input from various stakeholders. During the environmental scanning 
phase of the strategic planning process, NIU-CGS aimed to examine factors that shape the District’s future direction. To 
accomplish this, the NIU-CGS team conducted focus groups and interviews involving external and internal stakeholders. 
The results from the stakeholder input phase were shared in thematic form at the strategic planning leadership workshop, 
providing valuable insights to guide discussions. 

EXTERNAL STAKEHOLDER PERSPECTIVES 
Incorporating external perspectives into the District’s 
strategic plan helps capture the diverse needs and 
aspirations of the community, ensuring the plan is responsive 
to stakeholders' concerns. This approach fosters public trust 
and engagement, leading to more effective and sustainable 
outcomes. To gather these external perspectives, the NIU-
CGS team conducted focus groups. Detailed summaries are 
provided in Appendix A.

INTERNAL STAKEHOLDER PERSPECTIVES
Gathering internal perspectives when developing the 
District’s strategic plan is crucial, as it ensures the plan is 
informed by the insights and experiences of those who 
best understand the Park District’s unique operations 
and challenges. This comprehensive input can create 
more effective and inclusive strategies, aligning with 
the community's needs and goals. The NIU-CGS team 
conducted interviews with the District’s leadership team 
and elected officials as well as facilitated a focus group with 
staff. Detailed summaries are provided in Appendix A. 

Figure 2. 2024-2025 All Stakeholder Priorities 

•	Focus groups are designed to be a highly 
interactive approach, allowing for a robust and 
informative conversation with and between 
participants. In October 2024, two focus groups 
were conducted at the Fountain View Recreation 
Center with the District’s external stakeholders, 
as outlined below. The number of participants in 
each group ranged from 14-21. 

	» Civic Organizations and Intergovernmental 
Institutions

	» Invitational Residents and Park District 
Patrons, Volunteers, and Users

•	 In October 2024, a focus group was conducted 
with District front- and mid-line staff at the 
Fountain View Recreation Center. Participants 
included 19 staff members across different Park 
District departments.

•	Interviews result in highly personalized 
participation and the in-depth sharing of ideas. 
The focus of the interview sessions is to gain 
an initial perspective by building a balanced 
and informed view of the District from each 
stakeholder’s unique vantage point. In November 
2024, virtual interviews were conducted with the 
District’s Board of Commissioners and a working 
session was conducted with administrative 
leadership at Fountain View Recreation Center in 
January 2025. 

STAKEHOLDER PRIORITIES – ALIGNMENT OF ALL STAKEHOLDER FEEDBACK
(internal and external focus groups and interviews)

Facilities and Infrastructure 
Enhancements

Community
Engagement

Organizational
Development

Financial
Stewardship



(internal and external focus groups and interviews)

Leadership Workshop – 
Outline of Exercises and Discussion Sessions
All discussion sessions at the strategic planning leadership workshop with elected officials and administrative leadership, 
held in February 2025, employed highly participative and interactive approaches. The workshop facilitators utilized a group 
discussion approach that assures each participant an equal opportunity to speak and share opinions with the larger group. 
Participants were also able to weigh alternatives and refine their thinking through dialogue in small-group activities at 
the workshop. As ideas were shared and debated, the group worked steadily toward a consensus regarding the District’s 
mission, future direction, goals, and priorities.

INTRODUCTIONS AND ICEBREAKER EXERCISE
Participants were asked to introduce themselves and share in what capacity (employee or elected official) and how long they 
have been involved with the District. Next, they engaged in an icebreaker exercise titled, “Garage Sale.” In this exercise, 
workshop participants selected an item from the “garage sale” table that represented an important issue, initiative, or big 
idea they felt should be a part of the District’s future and be discussed as part of the strategic planning process. This was 
a brainstorming exercise, and no evaluative or judgmental debate was permitted during this session. Next is a list of those 
answers (Figure 3).

Garage 
Sale Item Workshop Participant Responses

Baseball Need for more baseball fields and synthetic turf.

Pez Dispenser “What’s old is new” – Remember past successes and maintain focus on what works well.

Hard Hat Making positive improvements through new playgrounds and construction projects.

Fire Truck Increase revenue for information technology.
-	 Example: Corporate Replacement Tax used as funding source

Flashlight Always seeking to maximize use of existing space and explore opportunities to add more.

Rope Park District should be the connector: bringing together all people regardless of race, age, or demographics.

Clorox Wipes Wipe away Park District debt—Board should prioritize financial responsibility, especially after new facility investments.

Elephant Continued focus on diversity, equity, and inclusion (DEI)—ensure everyone can access and enjoy programs and 
facilities which is part of our mission.

Candle	 Spark an inclusive environment that welcomes all abilities—make Carol Stream a model community.

Police Car Enhance safety, security, and training, especially at public-facing areas like the front desk.

Hard Hat Explore options for land acquisition or leasing. Park District is currently landlocked but needs more space.

Tape Measure Celebrate growth and measure ongoing success—acknowledge how far the Park District has come.

Brick Continue making infrastructure improvements (e.g., indoor turf), and create more space for programming and 
services.

Sharks Making good progress in safety protocols; consider a phased approach to enhance access control and emergency 
training for staff.

Thumbs Up Prioritize staff retention, training, strategic thinking, and create opportunities for growth in a team-oriented culture.

Pig Add recreational flag football (e.g., “pig skin”) to the Park District’s programming.

Green Tape Continue community engagement projects and partnerships to raise the profile of Carol Stream and the Park District.

Softball Improve parks and facilities for softball by adding batting cages and enhancing related programming.

Capitol 
Building

Monitor and engage in legislative initiatives—track policies that impact funding and would put potential constraints 
on programming or services.

Figure 3. Icebreaker: important issue, initiative, or big idea that should be part of the District’s future

3



VISIONING FOR THE FUTURE

VISIONING FOR THE FUTURE
The workshop participants next engaged in a visioning exercise to describe the desired future direction of the District by 
answering the following question: “If you left the community and didn’t return for 10-15 years, what do you think you will 
see or what do you hope you will see when you return in terms of development, services, programs, improvements or 
changes?” Participants were asked to think about their ideas ahead of time and then be ready to share them with the group 
during this session of the workshop. Responses are listed in Figure 4. 

Hope or Think You Will See in 10-15 Years…
Addition of more connecting paths to connect 
community, including along Morton Rd.

Park District gets an indoor ice rink.

Supervisory and administrative staff has a more 
collaborative and connected office space.

Lazy River added to the Park District’s pool – 
improvements and added amenities to pool.*

New gymnastics facility.

More gym space.

Sustainability plan for natural areas – consider adding 
a butterfly garden.

Staff is proud and satisfied.

Upgrades are made to the Simkus Recreation Center.

Collaborative Communications Plan for events and 
programming, etc.

Staff is representative of demographically diverse 
community.

Park District gets an indoor ice rink.

Continued engagement with partners such as 
neighboring municipalities, schools, libraries, etc. *

•	Focus on strengthening the Park District’s partnership 
and relationship with library

Additional transportation for Park District, including 
a larger school bus, new vehicles, and more bus 
drivers.

Park District gets a food truck.

Full-time Safety Coordinator position is created.

Partner to provide programs for veterans.
•	Tap into the market of younger veterans, fitness, 

services, etc.

Park District creates an undefined, open community 
space or room for gathering and meetings.

•	E.g., work meetings, space for teenagers to hang 
out, PTA meetings, crafts, refreshments

Strengthen the Parks Foundation by raising 
awareness to increase funding.

Hire additional maintenance staff to help with 
demand and expectations from community 
(cleanliness of parks is a high priority yet park 
maintenance has the fewest employees).

Ensure the Park District is financially stable to keep 
up facilities and equipment.

•	New, up-to-date equipment, keep up with trends 
in programming (pickleball, flag football, rise in 
popularity)

Park District has explored their role and potential 
partnerships in strengthening mental health services 
and programs for the community.

Advance the Park District’s technology, bring up to 
date.

•	Audio and video, televisions, phone system, 
registration, website, artificial intelligence

Access barriers are eliminated.
•	Spatial constraints, registration desk and staff seating 

location are reconfigured for better flow, consider 
moving the fitness center to the first floor, etc.

Match Armstrong Park to McCaslin Park so the Park 
District has two big complexes (consider adding a 
band shell and concessions to Armstrong Park).

Overall improved athletic fields.

McCaslin Park gets a “McCaslin Pub” – upstairs 
establishment, entertainment.

Improvements are made to the mini golf course.
•	Pump, drainage, updated and added technology, 

cleaned up

More planning together with regional partners, make 
the most efficient use of space and resources and 
strengthen each other. *

Large indoor sports complex, maybe repurpose an 
existing Park District property or building.

Hope that everything becomes more affordable 
(materials, etc.) so Park District can afford to make 
updates, etc.

Internal advancement opportunities are provided 
for staff, including succession planning, growth 
pathways.

Patrons and users know how to access Park District 
information and where to look for it about programs, 
etc. (website, newsletter, social media, etc.)

Figure 4. Visions for the Future—Hope or think you will see in 10-15 years
Note: an asterisk (*) indicates that others expressed agreement with the statement.

4



ENVIRONMENTAL SCANNING PART I—
SURRENDER OR LEAD 
Next, participants were introduced to a leadership 
exercise titled, “Surrender or Lead.” During this exercise, 
participants organized into small groups to respond to a 
series of structured questions. These questions aimed to 
reveal hopes, perspectives, challenges, opportunities, and 
possible barriers based on the collective view of each group. 
The responses were recorded and the combined themes 
from the three groups are reported next. For a full list of 
Surrender or Lead responses from each individual group, 
see Appendix B. 

Themes from Surrender or Lead:
•	Balancing big dreams and ideas with realistic planning 

and resource limitations.

•	Prioritizing financial sustainability through diversified 
funding, sustainable growth, and responsible 
investment in programs, facilities, and technology.

•	Empowering staff as a core driver of quality, impact, 
and community connection.

•	Strengthening community relationships through 
collaboration, communication, and responsiveness to 
resident needs.

•	Fostering strategic leadership and decision-making to 
maintain assets, elevate identity, and position the Park 
District as a leader.

ENVIRONMENTAL SCANNING PART II—
LARGE GROUP SWOC ANALYSIS 
The next exercise at the strategic planning workshop 
allowed participants to further review and account for the 
internal and external factors present that could potentially 
influence the Park District, both negatively and positively. 
Workshop participants were asked to identify the Park 
District’s strengths (S) and weaknesses (W). In what areas 
does the Park District regularly excel, and in what areas 
are there difficulties or shortcomings in terms of expertise, 
resources, or training? What opportunities (O) are on the 
horizon that can be used to the Park District’s advantage? 
Conversely, what trends or challenges (C) lie ahead that 
would be obstacles or hindrances? These elements could 
include both internal and external factors, conditions, 
trends, regulations, agencies, and resources. The full list of 
responses to the exercise are provided in Figure 5.

5



6

STRENGTHS
•	Agency vendors (Corporate Counsel, 

Risk Management, Bond Council)

•	Western DuPage Special Recreation 
Association (WDSRA) – Special 
Recreation District

•	Cohesive Board

•	Transfer to capital fund

•	Educational opportunities available

•	Rentals revenue and available 
customer service

•	Capital improvement budget and 
plan

•	Americans with Disabilities Act 
(ADA) plan for parks and facilities

•	Supportive of flexible staffing

•	Cohesive brand – professional, 
recognized (signage)

•	Park District has a good reputation*

•	Talented staff

•	Board trusts staff

•	Community support from patrons

•	Community partners

•	Facilities are constantly being 
updated, kept looking nice

•	Variety of programming

•	Multiple generations in the workforce

•	Park District’s large volunteer base

•	Ability to adapt and do more with less

•	Affordable benefits packages and 
pension for staff

•	Carol Stream Parks Foundation (CSPF) 
is a partner in fundraising

•	Pathways and trails are one of the 
most popular Park District features for 
residents

•	Good bond rating

WEAKNESSES	
•	Shoreline maintenance

•	Competition from corporate fitness 

•	Lack of space – facility limitations

•	Balancing new ideas from staff with 
planning efforts and growth

•	Not enough funding

•	Shortage of staff, need an evaluation 
of staffing levels

•	Need stronger Foundation

•	 Improved communications to reach 
users who need additional modes of 
communication

•	Park District is currently landlocked

•	Need to maintain focus on safety 
and security

•	Technology is outdated

•	Debt structure

•	Need more sponsorships

OPPORTUNITIES
•	Building relationships with legislators

•	Carol Stream Parks Foundation 
(CSPF) – raising awareness and funds

•	More rentals utilizing the rental 
space available for indoor and 
outdoor assets

•	Adding more turf, indoor facilities, 
and fields

•	 Increased veteran engagement

•	Pathways and trails are more 
connected, activities utilizing trails, 
etc. 

•	Develop a plan to make all 
facilities and parks Americans with 
Disabilities Act (ADA) accessible

•	Adding food truck concessions at 
Armstrong Park

•	Capitalize on new trends in 
programming such as pickleball and 
flag football

•	Shoreline maintenance

•	Community support

•	Artificial intelligence

•	Homeschool programming

•	St. Luke’s Church location (idea for 
expanding space for programming)

•	Succession planning

•	Focus on the active adults population 

•	Creative funding strategies 

•	Untapped groups of residents

•	Sponsorships

•	Unified message – use partnerships 
with intergovernmental organizations

•	Cooperative programming with other 
park districts

CHALLENGES
•	Finding and keeping seasonal 

maintenance staff

	» Challenging because of the 
work schedule, long hours, 
work/life balance, and burnout

•	High demand of residents

•	Maintaining aging facilities

•	Carol Stream Parks Foundation 
(CSPF) – raising awareness and 
fundraising are challenging

•	Supporting newer employees’ ideas 
– ensuring that their voices are heard 
and included and input is considered

•	Communication – so many formats 
or avenues

•	Need more transportation available 
for events and activities

•	Remote work environment, 
expectations for coming into the 
office, competing with other places 
who can offer remote work

•	Shoreline maintenance

•	Balancing needs of programs with 
limited space

	» Managing expectations

•	Keeping up with customer service

•	Community partners – competition 
and overlap with some 
programming, learning how to work 
together to support each other and 
not step on any toes

•	Artificial intelligence

•	Legislation

•	Park District is currently landlocked

•	Staff that is retiring – need for 
succession planning

•	Training the next generation of 
staff – combating and working with 
generational differences

•	Maintaining safety and security

•	Lack of internal office and 
programming space

•	Market competition – private entities 
offering the same programs and 
services (gyms, etc.)

•	 Increasing expenses

Figure 5. Large Group Rapid Fire SWOC Analysis



With the preceding discussion sessions and exercises acting as a sound foundation for goal setting, the next exercise provided time for a healthy group discussion and development of goals and objectives to achieve the future visions as expressed by workshop participants.

NOMINAL GROUP GOAL IDENTIFICATION
With the preceding discussion sessions and exercises 
acting as a sound foundation for goal setting, the next 
exercise provided time for a healthy group discussion and 
development of goals and objectives to achieve the future 
visions as expressed by workshop participants.

Participants reconvened in the same small groups from 
the previous exercise for goal development. Each group 
was allotted time to develop, and then report out, at least 
three to four important policy and program goals that they 
thought the Park District should accomplish. Groups were 
asked to create goals using two different time frames: short-
term goals, which could be started or accomplished in the 
next one to three years, and long-term goals, which could be accomplished in a four- to eight-year time frame. Each small 
group then shared their goals with the larger group. Goals could be highly specific or general, but all goals pointed to 
important outcomes that leadership hopes to see in the years ahead.

Open Group Discussion and Consolidation of Goals and Objectives
This final phase of the goals discussion served as a forum for workshop participants to refine and compare the ideas and 
goals offered by each participant. Participants gave their opinions and further explained the fit, ideas, and policy outcomes 
expressed in the goals and discussed if additional goals or details were needed. 

Following the workshop, NIU-CGS worked with the Park District’s leadership to refine the strategic goals, ensuring they 
aligned with the direction set by the Board and senior staff, clarified intent, and eliminated redundancies. 

7



8Strategic Priority Areas

Strategic Priority Areas
Based on an evaluation of the entirety of the process, including interviews, focus groups, discussions at the workshop, and 
the goals developed, the NIU-CGS team worked with Park District staff to identify six high-level strategic priority areas. 
These priority areas represent larger themes or priorities that encompass all the strategic goals and highlight the activities 
and initiatives that the Park District will focus on in both the short and long term. The strategic priority areas identified as 
a result of the strategic planning process are illustrated and fully defined (in no particular order) next. For focus group data 
alignment related to each priority area, see Appendix C. 

PRIORITY AREA: COMMUNITY CONNECTION AND ENGAGEMENT
This priority area focuses on strengthening communication, outreach, and partnerships with residents 
and community organizations. Key initiatives include enhancing marketing and digital communication 
strategies, addressing language access barriers, and engaging non-users of Park District facilities. 
Efforts also involve creating opportunities for inclusive community input and supporting connection 
across all ages, abilities, and cultures.

PRIORITY AREA: FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY
Maintaining a strong financial foundation is essential to the long-term success of any organization. 
This strategic priority emphasizes diversifying revenue streams through expanded concessions, 
increased sponsorships, targeted fundraising efforts, and the pursuit of grant opportunities. It also 
includes the ongoing, strategic management of financial obligations and the thoughtful exploration 
of growth opportunities—such as property acquisitions or improvements—that align with the 
organization’s mission and long-term sustainability. Effective budgeting and financial planning are 
essential to ensure that resources are allocated in support of both immediate needs and future goals.

PRIORITY AREA: INNOVATIVE AND SECURE INFRASTRUCTURE
This area addresses improvements to both physical infrastructure and digital technology systems. 
Initiatives include updating emergency preparedness plans, enhancing facility security, and 
implementing technology upgrades to improve operational efficiency. Additional efforts include 
exploring emerging AI and provide staff training to support infrastructure enhancements.

PRIORITY AREA: COMPREHENSIVE PROGRAMMING AND SERVICES
Delivering diverse and responsive programming is critical to the mission of the Park District. Priorities 
include expanding access in underserved areas, increasing active adult and senior offerings, and 
incorporating emerging recreation trends. These efforts are intended to meet the evolving needs 
and interests of the community.

PRIORITY AREA: STAFF DEVELOPMENT AND RETENTION
This priority area focuses on investing in staff capacity and support. Key initiatives involve evaluating 
staffing levels, offering professional development, and implementing strategies to improve retention 
and succession planning. Enhancing workplace culture and providing growth opportunities contribute 
to a stable, skilled, and fulfilled workforce.

PRIORITY AREA: FACILITY ASSESSMENT AND IMPROVEMENT
This priority area focuses on ongoing evaluation and upgrades to facilities. Activities include 
renovations to the Simkus Recreation Center, improvements to athletic fields, and identification of 
opportunities for new indoor spaces. Capital improvement planning and ADA compliance guide 
efforts to ensure facilities remain safe, functional, and accessible for all.



9 Post-Workshop– Goal Prioritization and Ranking Exercise

Post-Workshop – 
Goal Prioritization and Ranking Exercise
The Park District’s senior-level staff and Board of Commissioners were asked to delineate, via a post-workshop online 
ranking exercise, which goals should be given the highest priority. Each participant was provided with an online ranking tool, 
where they ranked each goal within its respective Priority Area in order of importance, using a “forced ranking” method. 
For example, participants were asked to rank all goals that fell under the Community Connection and Engagement Priority 
Area against each other, all Financial Sustainability goals against each other, and so on.

The overall ranking of each goal is calculated using the average of the rankings given by all participants. For example, if 
a goal was given scores of 2, 5, 6, 6, 1, 2, and 3, the average total would be 3.66. The lower the score, the higher the 
priority. Again, the average scores were based on the rankings provided by all workshop participants (senior-level staff and 
Board of Commissioners). 

The results of the Park District’s goal-ranking exercise, including each goal’s average score and assigned priority levels of 
High, Medium, and Lower for each goal within its respective category are shown in Figure 7. For additional comparison, 
the goals are also displayed by priority level only in Figure 8. Together, these visuals provide a dashboard outlining the 
strategic goals, objectives, and tasks for the Park District’s leadership to address in the months and years ahead.

Figure 7. 2025 Prioritized Goals Dashboard by Priority Areas

GOALS AVERAGE 
SCORE

PRIORITY 
LEVEL

Develop a structured Communication Plan to effectively engage external 
partners, customers, and stakeholders. 

•	Expand marketing and outreach to connect with non-users and bring users to 
facilities 

•	Assess and determine social media platforms, electronic communications

•	Address language barriers in communications from the Park District

1.47 High

Distinguish the Carol Stream Park District as a community leader.
•	Strengthen partnerships with local governments 

•	Provide opportunities for connection amongst all ages, abilities, and cultures

•	Continue to gather community input evaluating needs for programming, 
services, and potential partnerships

1.53 Medium

PRIORITY AREA: COMMUNITY CONNECTION AND ENGAGEMENT



10

GOALS AVERAGE 
SCORE

PRIORITY 
LEVEL

Remain financially sustainable and maintain adequate funding for future 
repairs and replacements.

•	Seek grant funding where available
1.41 High

Continue to focus on diversifying revenue streams.
•	Expand concession operations 

	» Concessions/food truck at Armstrong 

	» Expand food options at Coyote Crossing Mini Golf once village water is 
connected

1.71 Medium

Monitor markets for refinancing and investment opportunities.
•	Communicate available sponsorship opportunities to private entities and 

businesses to support Park District programming and services
2.88 Lower

GOALS AVERAGE 
SCORE

PRIORITY 
LEVEL

Explore safety needs at all Park District facilities.
•	 Improve access control

•	Update camera systems

•	Complete public address system enhancement	

1.71 High

Create a Technology Plan to maximize efficiency.
•	Update the existing IT repair and replacement plan

•	Evaluate various software and amenities (AV System, HRIS, Scheduling, 
Maintenance tracking) to improve work functionality, efficiency

2.12 Medium

Assess and update a comprehensive, district wide emergency operation and 
Crisis Management Plan.

•	Create staff training and drills; scripted plan
2.71 Medium

Explore use and application of AI Technology.	 3.47 Lower

PRIORITY AREA: FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY

PRIORITY AREA: INNOVATIVE AND SECURE INFRASTRUCTURE



11 Post-Workshop– Goal Prioritization and Ranking Exercise

GOALS AVERAGE 
SCORE

PRIORITY 
LEVEL

Integrate programming related to emerging trends.
•	More Pickleball Courts and programs

2.00 High

Expand access to programming and facilities in the underserved areas of the 
community. 2.41 High

Implement running and walking programs. 3.35 Medium

Expand Active Adult fitness programming. 3.41 Medium

Increase adult educational and hobby classes. 3.82 Lower

GOALS AVERAGE 
SCORE

PRIORITY 
LEVEL

Review Park District staffing levels. 2.00 High

Create a Staff Retention Program/Plan. 
•	Enhance employee satisfaction for a healthy and positive work environment

•	Staff recognition programs and activities

•	Provide professional development opportunities

2.06 High

Create or formalize a long-term succession plan that considers career 
advancement, creates growth pathways, and helps identify potential leaders. 2.41 Medium

Provide opportunities for engaging staff in long-term planning. 3.53 Lower

PRIORITY AREA: COMPREHENSIVE PROGRAMMING AND SERVICES

PRIORITY AREA: STAFF DEVELOPMENT AND RETENTION



12Post-Workshop– Goal Prioritization and Ranking Exercise

GOALS AVERAGE 
SCORE

PRIORITY 
LEVEL

Increase the quality of the Park District’s athletic fields.
•	Consider lighted fields and artificial turf 

•	 Increase funding for turf/grass field maintenance program	

2.12 High

Evaluate renovation and improvement needs for Simkus Recreation Center.
•	Address ADA standards

•	Prioritize building improvements

•	Review things like gymnastics, program rooms, equipment, amenities

2.88 Medium

Update and implement the Park District’s Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) to make 
necessary upgrades and additions.

•	Renovate the Coral Cove Water Park locker room

•	Expand paths and connect trails

3.12 Medium

Incorporate existing repair and replacement plans related to facilities, 
infrastructure, parks and playgrounds, trails, and shorelines. 3.29 Lower

Investigate funding options, locations, and partnerships for future indoor 
multipurpose facility.

•	Possibly include athletic fields, storage space, and communal areas

•	Research available vacant spaces in consideration for expansion	

3.59 Lower

PRIORITY AREA: FACILITY ASSESSMENT AND IMPROVEMENT



13 Post-Workshop– Goal Prioritization and Ranking Exercise

STRATEGIC GOALS PRIORITY LEVEL

Develop a structured Communication Plan to effectively engage external partners, customers, 
and stakeholders. 

•	Expand marketing and outreach to connect with non-users and bring users to facilities

•	Assess and determine social media platforms, electronic communications

•	Address language barriers in communications from the Park District

High

Explore safety needs at all Park District facilities.
•	 Improve access control

•	Update camera systems

•	Complete public address system enhancement	

High

Integrate programming related to emerging trends.
•	More Pickleball Courts and programs

High

Review Park District staffing levels. High

Create a Staff Retention Program/Plan. 
•	Enhance employee satisfaction for a healthy and positive work environment

•	Staff recognition programs and activities

•	Provide professional development opportunities

High

Expand access to programming and facilities in the underserved areas of the community. High

Remain financially sustainable and maintain adequate funding for future repairs and replacements.
•	Seek grant funding where available

High

Increase the quality of the Park District’s athletic fields.
•	Consider lighted fields and artificial turf 

•	 Increase funding for turf/grass field maintenance program

High

Distinguish the Carol Stream Park District as a community leader.
•	Strengthen partnerships with local governments 

•	Provide opportunities for connection amongst all ages, abilities, and cultures

•	Continue to gather community input evaluating needs for programming, services, and potential 
partnerships

Medium

Create or formalize a long-term succession plan that considers career advancement, creates 
growth pathways, and helps identify potential leaders. Medium

Implement running and walking programs. Medium

Figure 8. 2025 Prioritized Goals Dashboard All Goals



14Post-Workshop– Goal Prioritization and Ranking Exercise

STRATEGIC GOALS PRIORITY LEVEL

Evaluate renovation and improvement needs for Simkus Recreation Center.
•	Address ADA standards

•	Prioritize building improvements

•	Review things like gymnastics, program rooms, equipment, amenities

Medium

Continue to focus on diversifying revenue streams.
•	Expand concession operations 

	» Concessions/food truck at Armstrong

Expand food options at Coyote Crossing Mini Golf once Village water is connected

Medium

Update and implement the Park District’s Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) to make necessary upgrades 
and additions.

•	Renovate the Coral Cove Water Park locker room

•	Expand paths and connect trails

Medium

Create a Technology Plan to maximize efficiency.
•	Update the existing IT repair and replacement plan

•	Evaluate various software and amenities to improve work functionality, efficiency

	» AV System, HRIS, Scheduling, Maintenance tracking

Medium

Expand Active Adult fitness programming. Medium

Assess and update a comprehensive, district wide emergency operation and Crisis Management 
Plan.

•	Create staff training and drills; scripted plan
Medium

Monitor markets for refinancing and investment opportunities.
•	Communicate available sponsorship opportunities to private entities and businesses to support 

Park District programming and services
Lower

Provide opportunities for engaging staff in long-term planning. Lower

Increase adult educational and hobby classes. Lower

Incorporate existing repair and replacement plans related to facilities, infrastructure, parks 
and playgrounds, trails, and shorelines. Lower

Explore use and application of AI Technology. Lower

Investigate funding options, locations, and partnerships for future indoor multipurpose facility.
•	Possibly include athletic fields, storage space, and communal areas

•	Research available vacant spaces in consideration for expansion

Lower

Figure 8. 2025 Prioritized Goals Dashboard All Goals (cont.)



Conclusion	
The strategic planning process will only be effective if this report serves as a practical guide for 
Carol Stream Park District’s leaders and community. It captures key discussions throughout the 
strategic planning process and supports the Park District’s leadership in creating action plans to 
achieve strategic goals and advance priority initiatives.

As the Park District evolves, it must adapt to changes in demographics, community trends, 
technology, and best practices. The strategic plan provides a flexible roadmap to navigate these 
shifts. To stay aligned with community needs, regular reviews of the strategic planning goals—
monthly, quarterly, or semi-annually—are recommended, along with a full update of the plan every 
three to five years.

The discussions and idea-sharing during the strategic planning process highlighted Carol Stream 
Park District’s forward-thinking leadership, who are committed to embracing strategic thinking and 
ensuring thoughtful planning for the Park District’s future.

We wish you well with the ambitious years that lie ahead.

Mel Henriksen, Alli Aiston, and Jeanna Ballard 
NIU-CGS Project Coordinators and Facilitators

 
 

15

https://www.csparks.org/


16

Appendix A: 
Focus Group and Leadership Interview Feedback 

SUMMARY
One of the key analytical techniques used for the focus groups and interview notes is an analyst’s search for key phrases, 
words, or terms that emerged during the stakeholder input sessions, a process known as coding. Coding is an analyst’s 
individual readings of the data, followed by key term searches. The words and phrases listed below are the results of the 
NIU-CGS team’s analysis of the collected focus group and interview notes. At a glance, the analyst can discover which 
terms were used or referred to most frequently in the feedback notes. Using individual analysts’ coding, the researcher 
identifies terms that recur across participant groups and across questions. The results reveal key topics or issues that should 
be weighed and considered when proceeding with strategic planning discussions. 

The information that follows is a summary of key themes and topics that emerged during the exploratory focus group 
sessions and leadership interviews. The stakeholder feedback collection served as a primer for the strategic planning 
process. The information that is presented in this summation was designed to add exploratory and thematic information 
for the Park District’s leadership team to consider during the strategic planning workshop. 

The same exploratory discussion questions were asked to each focus group and interviewee and are listed below: 

1

2

3

4

5

6

How would you describe the Park 
District to a stranger or someone who 

doesn’t live or work in the area?

If you could change or initiate one key 
item or one goal for the Park District, 

what would it be?

If you left and didn’t return for 10-
15 years, what services or programs 
do you think you would see the Park 
District offering or what do you hope 

you would see when you return?

What do you like best about Carol 
Stream Park District? Related to that, 

what are the strengths or greatest 
assets of the District? 

Can you identify areas or topics in 
need of attention or improvement? 

Related to that, what are the 
weaknesses or greatest needs for 

the Park District? 

What are or should be the top priorities 
for the Park District over the next three 

to five years?



17 Appendix A: Focus Group and Leadership Interview Feedback

Overall Themes Based on All External Focus Group Feedback

FACILITIES AND INFRASTRUCTURE ENHANCEMENTS
•	Add more space for swim meet spectators to sit, potentially build upwards to save space

•	Continue making Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) improvements to Park District facilities and playgrounds

•	Acquire more land for a second indoor activity center
	» Possibly including space for a new Performing Arts Center, indoor basketball, volleyball, swimming, fitness, etc.

•	Upgrade Red Hawk Park with added lighting and parking

•	Hope to get rid of woodchips at the parks in exchange for rubber pieces

•	Gymnastics center needs an upgrade, updated equipment and layout of room including mirror placement

•	Bring back childcare hours for the fitness center

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND COLLABORATION
•	Emphasize the Park District’s “why,” their mission, values to gain buy in from users and residents

•	Expand access to programming and facilities in the southeast corner of town –more presence, larger footprint, and 
fully-staffed facilities

•	Enhance marketing efforts to increase the visibility of the Park District
	» Make a paper copy of the programming guide available onsite

	» Mail a paper copy of the senior guide to senior households

•	 Increase collaboration with community partners – mutually beneficial
	» Share space for sports fields, parking, include churches not just the schools

	» Offer space rental for private organizations potentially increasing revenue – aim to keep rentals local, within 
affiliated organizations

•	Continue to gather input from community to learn what they want in terms of programming. Where are the gaps? How 
can programming be more diverse to meet the growing needs of the population?

PROGRAMMING
•	Continue to provide the community with opportunities to gather and connect 

•	Ensure the Park District can maintain current programming while remaining innovative and stay relevant regarding 
additional programming

	» Create a driver’s education program for those youth whose family don’t own a vehicle

	» Addition of senior swim aerobics classes or adult swim time

•	Explore partnering to provide the community with a Performing Arts Center

•	Focus on maintaining and enhancing before and after school activities for youth, possibly partnering with the Library 
and School Districts

•	Strengthen the Park District Foundation to support fundraising events for scholarships, help achieve budget goals, and 
increase opportunities for lower income youth to participate

•	Remain financially sustainable and solvent
	» More budget transparency regarding program costs, fundraising funds allocation (adult vs. youth programs)



18Appendix A: Focus Group and Leadership Interview Feedback

Overall Themes Based on the Staff Focus Group Feedback

STAFF SUPPORT AND DEVELOPMENT
•	Better quality, more in-depth training opportunities

	» Possibly online training platform with standard operating procedures across all departments and programs

•	Create opportunities for growth internally, career advancement and pathways 

	» Trust front- and mid-line staff with supervision as needed

	» More transparency regarding succession planning and career advancement

	» Reduce burnout by adding more staff to cover some activities and programs

•	Develop a plan for adding more summer staffing. Ensure camps are operating at the recommended ratios for child to 
supervisor

•	Build staff morale by increasing staff appreciation opportunities including part-time, seasonal staff

	» Increased levels of staffing and more competitive compensation and benefits

	» Stronger presence of senior leadership in the trenches, jumping in to help when staff is spread thin

FACILITIES AND PROGRAM ENHANCEMENTS
•	Expansion of facilities, such as a new theater and Performing Arts Center

	» Indoor space expanded to include athletic fields, storage space, communal lunch area, etc. 

•	Upgrade the gymnastics equipment

•	Focus on updating Simkus Recreation Center

	» Replace gym floors

•	Need a new or updated bus for senior trips, camera for pictures of trips

•	 Incorporation of art or sculptures in outdoor park areas

•	Expansion of the water park with a lazy river

•	Upgraded technology/software throughout the Park District

	» A/V equipment, computers, website for user-friendliness, etc.

•	Place less focus on numbers of registrants and more focus on improving quality of programming; focus on what the 
Park District does well

•	Expand class offerings to include daytime programming for adults with special needs

•	Update and improve parks, particularly on the southeast side of town

COMMUNICATION
•	 Improve communication internally and externally with the community and partners

	» Reach people from varying ages and demographics 

•	Address language barriers in communications from the Park District (including forms, website, newsletter, brochures)

•	Provide opportunities for engaging staff and residents in decision-making

•	Need for more print marketing materials and user-friendly digital communication

•	Partner with private entities and businesses to support and sponsor marketing

•	More marketing and outreach to connect with non-users, bring users into facilities



19 Appendix A: Focus Group and Leadership Interview Feedback

Overall Themes Based on the Leadership Interviews

COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT AND REPRESENTATION
Maintaining strong connections with the community and key partners, such as the school district, 
is essential to ensure that programming and services align with the diverse needs of all residents. 
As the community becomes increasingly diverse, explore initiatives and outreach efforts, along 
with culturally engaging programs, that can help bridge gaps in representation and participation. 

INFRASTRUCTURE MAINTENANCE AND IMPROVEMENT 
Sustainable management of facilities and resources is crucial as the Park District seeks to maintain 
and enhance aging infrastructure and other enhancements such as playgrounds and shoreline 
restoration. Long-term capital improvement planning with a focus on proactive maintenance 
and transparent communication about asset upkeep will help preserve the Park District’s current 
assets and maximize service availability for residents. Strategic land acquisition and exploring 
shared facilities with community partners are additional priorities as available land decreases.

FINANCIAL STEWARDSHIP 
Maintaining strong financial practices is essential to the Park District's success, particularly in 
managing high-interest debt and securing resources for future initiatives. Increasing revenue 
through program-driven activities, events, and large-scale sponsorships will support key 
programs and infrastructure. Additionally, fostering partnerships with other agencies can provide 
further funding opportunities to meet both operational and long-term goals, strengthening the 
Park District’s overall fiscal health.

BOARD AND STAFF COLLABORATION AND STABILITY
Transitions and changes in the Board of Commissioners and senior staff, whether planned with 
retirements or unforeseen when employees possibly pursue other opportunities, highlight the 
importance of continued prioritization of succession planning to maintain organizational stability. 
Building on the existing strong communication and collaboration between staff and the Board 
will help ensure balanced oversight, clarify roles and responsibilities, and support effective 
decision-making.

 



20Appendix B: Surrender or Lead Exercise

Appendix B: 
Surrender or Lead Exercise
The bolded and underlined sections are key phrases that each group provided in response to the Surrender or Lead 
exercise’s open-ended questions and prompts during the leadership workshop.

Group #1

1.	 We want to offer unlimited opportunities to our community, but we have to be more realistic.

2.	 The two most important things to focus on are smiles and memories because that will touch everyone.

3.	 If it weren’t for monetary limitations, we would build more indoor/outdoor space and expand programs.

4.	 We need to finally distinguish ourselves as the Leader in the Community.

5.	 Staff will have the biggest impact on the Park District in the coming two to three years.

Group #2

1.	 We want to include everyone & everything but there are always going to be constraints.

2.	 Two most important things to focus on are Residents and Staff because without them we have nothing.

3.	 If it weren’t for money, we would have endless opportunities.

4.	 We need to finally update technology.

5.	 Legislation will have the biggest impact on the Park District in the coming 2-3 years.

Group #3

1.	 We want to expand, but we are limited.

2.	 The two most important things to focus on are Resident needs and quality/clean facilities and programs 
because they are the heart of the District.

3.	 If it weren’t for limitations, we could serve more patrons.

4.	 We need to finally find a sustainable funding source.

5.	 Taking care of what we have will have the biggest impact on the Park District in the coming 2-3 years.

Group #4

1.	 We want to set the bar, but why can’t we?

2.	 The two most important things to focus on are staff and well-maintained facilities because they are integral 
in meeting community needs. 

3.	 If it weren’t for financial limitations, we would satisfy everyone.

4.	 We need to finally get on the same page with our community partners.

5.	 Strategic decisions will have the biggest impact on the Park District in the coming two to three years.



21 Appendix C: Strategic Priority Area Goal and Stakeholder Feedback Aligment

Appendix C: 
Strategic Priority Area Goal and Stakeholder Feedback 
Alignment

FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY
Maintaining a strong financial foundation is essential to the success of any organization. This priority area focuses on 
expanding revenue sources through concessions and sponsorships, seeking external funding, and monitoring investment 
opportunities. Budgeting practices and financial planning are key components to ensure resources are aligned with both 
short- and long-term needs and goals.

Financial Sustainability–aligning stakeholder feedback:
•	Remain financially sustainable and solvent.

	» More budget transparency regarding program costs, fundraising funds allocation (adult vs. youth programs)

•	Strengthen the Park District Foundation to support fundraising events for scholarships, help achieve budget goals, and 
increase opportunities for lower income youth to participate.

•	Offer space rental for private organizations potentially increasing revenue – aim to keep rentals local, within affiliated 
organizations

COMMUNITY CONNECTION AND ENGAGEMENT
This priority area focuses on strengthening communication, outreach, and partnerships with residents and community 
organizations. Key initiatives include enhancing marketing and digital communication strategies, addressing language 
access barriers, and engaging non-users of Park District facilities. Efforts also involve creating opportunities for inclusive 
community input and supporting connection across all ages, abilities, and cultures.

Community Connection and Engagement–aligning stakeholder feedback: 
•	Emphasize the Park District’s “why,” their mission, values to gain buy in from users and residents.

•	Expand access to programming and facilities in the southeast corner of town – more presence, larger footprint, and 
fully-staffed facilities.

•	Enhance marketing efforts to increase the visibility of the Park District.

	» Make a paper copy of the programming guide available onsite

	» Mail a paper copy of the senior guide to senior households

•	 Increase collaboration with community partners – mutually beneficial.

•	Share space for sports fields, parking, include churches not just the schools.

•	Continue to gather input from community to learn what they want in terms of programming. Where are the gaps? How 
can programming be more diverse to meet the growing needs of the population?

•	 Improve communication internally and externally with the community and partners.

	» Reach people from varying ages and demographics

•	Address language barriers in communications from the Park District (including forms, website, newsletter, brochures).

•	Need for more print marketing materials and user-friendly digital communication.

•	Partner with private entities and businesses to support and sponsor marketing.

•	More marketing and outreach to connect with non-users, bring users into facilities.



This area addresses improvements to both physical infrastructure and digital systems. Initiatives include updating emergency preparedness plans, enhancing facility security, and implementing technology upgrades to improve operational efficiency. Additional efforts explore emerging tools, such as AI, and provide staff training to support infrastructure enhanc

INNOVATIVE AND SECURE INFRASTRUCTURE
This area addresses improvements to both physical infrastructure and digital systems. Initiatives include updating emergency 
preparedness plans, enhancing facility security, and implementing technology upgrades to improve operational efficiency. 
Additional efforts explore emerging tools, such as AI, and provide staff training to support infrastructure enhancements.

Innovative and Secure Infrastructure–aligning stakeholder feedback:
•	Upgraded technology and software throughout the Park District.

	» AV equipment, computers, website for user-friendliness, etc.

•	Need a new or updated bus for senior trips, camera for pictures of trips.

•	 Incorporation of art or sculptures in outdoor park areas.

FACILITY ASSESSMENT AND IMPROVEMENT
This priority area focuses on ongoing evaluation and upgrades to facilities. Activities include renovations to the Simkus 
Recreation Center, improvements to athletic fields, and identification of opportunities for new indoor spaces. Capital 
improvement planning and ADA compliance guide efforts to ensure facilities remain safe, functional, and accessible.

Facility Assessment and Improvement-aligning stakeholder feedback:
•	Add more space for swim meet spectators to sit, potentially build upwards to save space.

•	Continue making Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) improvements to Park District facilities and playgrounds.

•	Acquire more land for a second indoor activity center.

	» Possibly including space for a new Performing Arts Center, indoor basketball, volleyball, swimming, fitness, etc.

•	Upgrade Red Hawk Park with added lighting and parking.

•	Hope to get rid of woodchips at the parks in exchange for rubber pieces.

•	Gymnastics center needs an upgrade, updated equipment and layout of room including mirror placement.

•	Expansion of facilities, such as a new theater and Performing Arts Center.

	» Indoor space expanded to include athletic fields, storage space, communal lunch area, etc.

•	Upgrade the gymnastics equipment.

•	Focus on updating Simkus Recreation Center.

	» Replace gym floors

•	Expansion of the water park with a lazy river.

•	Update and improve parks, particularly on the southeast side of town.

22



23 Appendix C: Strategic Priority Area Goal and Stakeholder Feedback Aligment

COMPREHENSIVE PROGRAMMING AND SERVICES
Delivering diverse and responsive programming is critical to the mission of the Park District. Priorities include expanding 
access in underserved areas, increasing adult and senior offerings, and incorporating emerging recreation trends. These 
efforts are intended to meet the evolving needs and interests of the community.

Comprehensive Programming and Services-aligning stakeholder feedback:
•	Continue to provide the community with opportunities to gather and connect.

•	Ensure the Park District can maintain current programming while remaining innovative and stay relevant regarding 
additional programming.

	» Create a driver’s education program for those youth whose family don’t own a vehicle

	» Addition of senior swim aerobics classes or adult swim time

•	Explore partnering to provide the community with a Performing Arts Center.

•	Focus on maintaining and enhancing before and after school activities for youth, possibly partnering with the Library 
and School Districts.

•	Place less focus on numbers of registrants and more focus on improving quality of programming; focus on what the 
Park District does well.

•	Expand class offerings to include daytime programming for adults with special needs.

•	Bring back childcare hours for the fitness center.

STAFF DEVELOPMENT AND RETENTION
This priority area focuses on investing in staff capacity and support. Key initiatives involve evaluating staffing levels, 
offering professional development, and implementing strategies to improve retention and succession planning. Enhancing 
workplace culture and providing growth opportunities contribute to a stable, skilled workforce.

Staff Development and Retention-aligning stakeholder feedback:
•	Better quality, more in-depth training opportunities.

	» Possibly online training platform with standard operating procedures across all departments and programs

•	Create opportunities for growth internally, career advancement and pathways.

	» Trust front- and mid-line staff with supervision as needed

	» More transparency regarding succession planning and career advancement

	» Reduce burnout by adding more staff to cover some activities and programs

•	Develop a plan for adding more summer staffing. Ensure camps are operating at the recommended ratios for child to 
supervisor.

•	Build staff morale by increasing staff appreciation opportunities including part-time, seasonal staff.

	» Increased levels of staffing and more competitive compensation and benefits

	» Stronger presence of senior leadership in the trenches, jumping in to help when staff is spread thin

•	Provide opportunities for engaging staff and residents in decision-making.















 

 

To: Board of Commissioners 
From: Sue Rini, Executive Director 
Date: August 25, 2025 
Discussion: Kailasha Developers/Jan Smith Park Update 
  Agenda Item #: 6C 

 
 
Staff will provide an update on the negotiations with Kailasha Developers. 


	1 Board Meeting 2025-08-25 Agenda
	5A Board Meeting 2025-08-11  Minutes
	5B 2026 Board Meeting Schedule
	6A Armstrong Concessions Update
	6B Strategic Plan
	Carol Stream Park District Full Strategic Planning Report_Final_for transmittal.pdf
	Carol Stream Park District Background 
	Introduction
	Pre-Workshop – 
	Environmental Scanning and Stakeholder Input
	Leadership Workshop – 
	Outline of Exercises and Discussion Sessions
	Strategic Priority Areas
	Post-Workshop – 
	Goal Prioritization and Ranking Exercise
	Conclusion	
	Appendix A: 
	Focus Group and Leadership Interview Feedback 
	Appendix B: 
	Surrender or Lead Exercise
	Appendix C: 
	Strategic Priority Area Goal and Stakeholder Feedback Alignment


	6C Kailasha Update



